

## **Bereavement Policy**

#### Aim of the Trust

'One community. Many ideas. Everyone's future.'

We aim to provide an exceptional education for every child in the Trust through an ethos of collaboration and high aspirations and through the principles of quality learning using curiosity, exploration and discovery.

## Links

This policy should be read in conjunction with the Child Protection Policy, Safeguarding Policy and the Equality Policy.

#### **Principles**

Bereavement can be experienced by any member of our school community at any time, whether that be as a result of the death of a parent/carer, a relative or indeed a member of staff or child/student of the school. In addition, bereavement can occur as the result of any separation within a family, e.g. divorce. Children/students need to be supported when they experience separation for whatever reason in the course of their lives while they are at school.

This policy is to provide guidance to senior leaders and school staff following a bereavement. The aim is to offer support to both children and adults, and for staff to have greater confidence in coping when a bereavement occurs. In addition, it is important for school leaders to know that when bereavement is more complex, for example following the sudden death of a member of staff or a pupil, that very often specialist support should be sought and it is important for leaders to know how to signpost this support dependent on the individual or group of individuals and how in fact the loss may be affecting them.

The loss of a child/student especially can be a very difficult time for the whole school community.

It is important to note that every death, and the circumstances in which it occurs, can be very different and this policy will attempt to guide us on how to deal professionally, sensitively and compassionately with difficult matters in upsetting circumstances. We as a Trust are committed to the well-being and emotional health of our staff and children/students. We must support all our school community in coping with the loss of a loved one and ensure that our community has an ethos, environment and curriculum that support and prepare pupils for coping with bereavement. The policy has been written based on guidance from various sources such as, <a href="Child Bereavement UK">Child Bereavement UK</a>, <a href="Winston's Wish">Winston's Wish</a>, <a href="Bereavement Advice">Bereavement Advice</a> and <a href="Child Bereavement Network">Child Bereavement UK</a>, and indeed practice that has grown over time from school staff who have previously experienced bereavements in schools, and provides a resource as a working document to support our community.

# **Contents**

## **Section 1 - Introduction**

- A child's reaction to bereavement
- Talking about death
- Support for Staff

# Section 2 - Supporting a bereaved child/student

- Returning to school after a bereavement
- Longer term support
- The Curriculum

# Section 3 - The death of a child/student

- Roles and responsibilities
- Procedures
- Remembering

# Section 4 - The death of a member of staff

- Annex A: Template letters to parents/carers after a death in the school community
- Annex B: Addendum to Bereavement Policy: Covid-19 Pandemic
- Annex C: Books on bereavement

## Section 1 – Introduction

### A child's reaction to bereavement

Children's reactions to bereavement are affected by many factors which may include; who has died, how they died, what their relationship was with the person who has died, how the rest of family respond, what other stresses are in their lives at the same time, and whether their school and home community are supportive. Age and 'maturity' are also important factors as to the child's understanding of what has happened and what the impact may be on them and others around them. This is the same for a family separation such as divorce.

Children can move through many emotions and reactions very quickly, sometimes described as 'puddle jumping', whereas adults may 'stay' with their grief much longer. Behaviour can be at times that indicating extreme upset followed by appearing fine for a long period of time. 'Puddle-jumping' is their method of coping. Teenagers may show their emotions in many ways including periods of self-isolation.

Whatever way a child responds, it is important to help them understand what is happening to them and to talk about what is going on.

The psychologist Atle Dyregrov lists the following as some of the <u>common reactions among bereaved</u> <u>children</u>:

- anxiety
- insecurity and worry about other family members
- vivid memories
- sleep difficulties
- sadness and longing
- anger and acting-out behaviour
- guilt, self-reproach and blame
- · school difficulties
- physical health complaints

## Talking about death

Talking to a child about death can be difficult as adults will worry about upsetting the child even more or maybe frightening them by saying the wrong thing. However, talking to a child about death and answering their questions as honestly as possible is important. Often what children may be imagining may actually be much worse than reality.

Quite often the news of a death will be given by a parent/carer, but it is also important for school staff to be aware of some of the basic guidance on informing a child of a death. Simplicity and honesty are vital. Guidance on how to inform a child of a death and other resources can be found on Child Bereavement UK.

- Use simple language
- Staff may need to explain to a very young child exactly what death means
- Staff should not be afraid to show feelings. It's ok to feel sad.
- Explain that death is normal
- Allow the child to express their grief
- Grief can be delayed
- Recognise each relationship is different and therefore reactions can be different

## Support for staff

When staff work alongside bereaved children it can also have an effect on them, whether that be through empathising with the pupil or indeed an experience which brings back memories of events in their own lives. Therefore, school leaders must ensure that 'front-line' staff who deal with safeguarding issues are supported. 'Supervision' mechanisms are important as well as staff training. It is useful to ensure at least one or two key pastoral/SEND staff have experienced relevant training on bereavement so that they can not only support pupils but also be better to cope with the feeling they may themselves experience.

In the event of the death of a child/student or member of staff, some individual staff may be affected more deeply than others so it is important for school leaders to recognise this. External support in the form of counsellors etc. will be beneficial to children/students and staff.

It is important to note that at the core of this will be the Headteacher who may well be dealing with the implications of such a sad event as a death of a child/student or colleague, yet still needs to lead staff and the whole school community. The Executive Principal and the Trustees, along with our key agencies such as Place2be, school counsellors, Daisy's Dream and Samaritans will be on hand to support senior colleagues throughout this process.

# Section 2 - Supporting a bereaved child/student

# Returning to school after a bereavement

It is important to have a key member of staff to help with the transition back into school. Someone who the child knows, has trust in and feels able to see if things are not going well, e.g. class teacher, form tutor, SENCo, pastoral lead etc. Arranging a meeting on the child's return with families/carers is important so that the school can gain the details as to what has exactly happened so that a support plan can be produced for the child.

# Purpose of the meeting:

- Acknowledge the issues whether that be a death, divorce or another separation.
- Allow the child to talk about their worries/concerns and maybe how they want the transition back
  to their friends/social group to be like. It may be worth a member of staff seeing friends before
  the child returns to support them in what they may wish to say/do to support their friend. They
  may need support too.
- Make arrangements for when the child may feel the need to see someone, e.g. 'time-out'.
- Arrange communication methods between home and school, and between the child and home for a short period of time if need be.
- Assure the child that staff are here to support as the child may have worries about school work etc. It is important to inform relevant staff of any potential issues.

# Longer term support

It is vital that a full and accurate record is taken at the time of the bereavement, around the child's well-being as well as any relevant plan or support that was given. This is especially important as quite often school staffing may change and the member of staff supporting a child may not have been the one when first the event occurred. It may be several months, or even years before a child begins dealing with the bereavement so it is important to have accurate records.

It is important to recognise significant dates or anniversaries, e.g. birthdays, Mother's / Father's Day etc. when there may be some reaction in the child's state of mind and behaviour. Contact with home is especially important at this time. Progress, behaviour and school work may be affected at various

times, especially initially and on key dates. It is important at this time to keep other staff informed and to be extra vigilant looking out for the child. School should have a plan to deal with these eventualities.

It is important too that those children who may have already been vulnerable for a range of reasons are supported, as change and upset can have serious impact on their well-being. Liaison with the SENCo on these occasions by key pastoral staff is vital.

#### The Curriculum

Various aspects of any school curriculum will have connections to life events which can cause death, separation and thus possible bereavement. Topics in Religious Education, History for example can cover topics which may be sensitive to a child going through bereavement. Therefore, in supporting a child returning to school, it is important to be aware of their curriculum. Informing parents/carers in advance will help to gather information about previous bereavements so that vulnerable pupils can be prepared for the lesson. Recently bereaved children/parents may find it helpful if they are given the option to work elsewhere or step outside, if they think it would be too painful to attend.

However, in a broader aspect, it is important that death, grief, separation and bereavement are taught so that children/students can better understand emotions that at some stage or another, they are likely to experience.

# Section 3 - The death of a child/student

## Roles and responsibilities

It is important that a plan is put in place as early as possible and that there is a lead member of staff, whether that be the Headteacher, or another senior leader. How will the death and planning support impact on the running of the school, who will deputise the responsibilities of the lead staff if the event takes most/all of their time, especially in the first few days?

In the case of a traumatic or sudden death of a child/student, the school may be involved as part of a multi-agency review and therefore a representative for this aspect will need to be chosen. Other responsibilities will have to be decided in order to address each of the suggested procedures listed under the next heading.

### **Procedures**

Whenever news has reached the school, it is important to convene a senior leader's meeting as soon as possible. This may also include other key personnel such as pastoral leads, relevant class teacher, form tutor etc. The news of the death of a child may have broken in the community outside school hours and convening a meeting well before the start of the next day's school will be useful to plan procedures.

To an extent, the nature of the death will dictate what the response and plan is, e.g. a child who may have been terminally ill for a period of time is of course difficult for the school community but perhaps the most challenging circumstances is the sudden death of a child unexpectedly, in a traumatic manner, e.g. suicide, car accident, or even a very public event such as a terrorist attack.

The following aspects are suggestions for the school to consider when dealing with the death of a child. It is by no means a comprehensive list but may guide our schools towards a better support and response plan:

The family of the child – Contacting the family as early as possible to offer condolences and support is important. Depending on the family's needs, school should look to support them as best as possible. If the child comes from a vulnerable setting, liaison with external services may also be appropriate to

ensure the family gain the support they need. A visit from a senior leader should be offered in the initial days to offer support in person and discuss any relevant arrangements, e.g. the funeral service, or any aspect with which the school may be able to help with. It is important to note that a family may not wish for any contact or visits and of course school must be respectful of this but where a family is identified as vulnerable, school leaders should liaise with social services.

It may be appropriate to invite the family in at some point, probably most suitable after school, to visit any area where the school has set out for others to pay their respect, e.g. somewhere pupils have signed a book of condolences.

Friendship groups – it is important to identify the closest friends of the child who has died. They may already be aware of the news, so it is important that they understand that they will be supported by the school and maybe some of the things they may expect in the coming days. If indeed the school needs to break the news to the children, it is important to ensure that their respective families are also involved as best they can, either in person if possible when the news is broken, or informed by telephone. Closest friends must be given a key member of staff they can go to and what to do if upset etc. It may be in the initial phase that they prefer to be at home with family. Depending on the nature of the death, they must be prepared for questions from peers who may be wishing to support their friends but may also be, out of curiosity, looking for answers to some details that may not be 'public'. This is especially difficult when a child has taken their own life.

Informing the school community — Even if news has broken overnight, there may be some of the community who are not aware. The Executive Principal and Chair of the Trust should of course be informed as soon as possible along with Trustees and Governors. Senior leaders should convene a short staff meeting as soon as possible before school and inform staff, bearing in mind many of the staff will also be upset. If there is a particular member of staff who may have been close to the child, e.g. class teacher or form tutor, it would be worth speaking to his/her friends to ensure they have support at this initial time. Communicating to staff the need to support each other but to also be extra vigilant with children/students in recognising issues is important. Staff should be given a link member(s) of staff to communicate with regarding particular issues. Depending on the circumstances of the death and possible public interest, it may be appropriate to also hold a briefing at the end of the school day.

If the death of the child is sudden and unexpected, it may well be worth holding assemblies as soon as possible with relevant year groups, or indeed the whole school. Depending on the nature of the school and or the circumstances of the death, it may be more appropriate to deliver the news in small groups. It is advisable before then to have spoken to the child's 'best friends' and possibly allow them to sit out of the assembly/meeting. If it is a death of child that may have been expected, it may be worth seeing their particular year group but each occasion will determine how many children/students and how quickly senior staff will see them. News will spread quite quickly but it may be that some children are not aware by the time the assembly occurs. School staff should be prepared for a variety of reactions when news is delivered.

To deliver the message it is worth noting the following points:

- Have a script prepared.
- The message should be one which is simple and factual, in part to prevent speculation and rumours. With the family's permission and dependent on the circumstances, a brief account should be given of where and when the death occurred, and how, if appropriate. If these facts are not all known, children/students should be informed that they will be told these details as

- soon as school can. The school should try to quash any rumours that may have been already communicated to school that are false.
- Staff delivering the message should not be afraid to show emotion. This can help children understand human reactions which are appropriate.
- If appropriate, remind children/students of their responsibilities and possible impact when posting on social media.
- Speak briefly and positively about the child who has died but don't eulogise.
- Mention any arrangements in place including for those who may need support and which staff they may see.
- Acknowledge that it's also ok not to feel sad, especially if the child/student was not known to other children or students.
- Whilst the message must offer support to children/students, clearly stating the expected behaviour and level of respect now needed from them is important. They should be encouraged to support each other at this time too and be more vigilant of their friends and peers.
- Before dismissing the children/students off to class, it is good to give them a few minutes to allow them to process the information that has been given to them and take a little 'time-out'.
- (If the death may be of interest to the media, inform children/students that they should not be discussing the matter with any journalist or any other person who may approach them near school. This may be difficult to police as parents may respond to any media, but children/students should be made aware that they should not engage with the media on the way to and from school.)

It may well be appropriate to inform the wider community, e.g. parents/carers, dependent on the circumstances and possible 'public profile' the death may bring. Template letters are included in Annex A but of course dependent on the circumstances of any death, this may need specific editing.

Other vulnerable children - Children react to bad news in lots of ways and not just those closest to the event. Some teenagers for example, who may have already have some vulnerability themselves, may be seen to react in a more extreme way. The death of a child/student they don't really know may trigger former experiences in their own lives, which staff must be aware of so that they can also be supported. It is not uncommon for other young people to 'exaggerate' their friendship with the child who has died and appear to be grief-stricken because of the death. This can be confusing for the close friendship group of the child who has died. Quite often this particular child is struggling with some aspect of self-identity and subconsciously may see the event as a way to 'gain attention'. Staff should be supportive of these children whilst at the same time get them to understand the grief and sadness others are experiencing at the time and how maybe best to support others.

A place to grieve – Again, dependent on the nature of the child's death, it may be appropriate to have a nominated quiet and safe place in school where friends may gather over the coming days. Whilst it is important to have a place for this, it is practically very important to 'manage' this facility as it may be seen by other vulnerable children as a place to go if they are upset and so it is important to have this place specifically for closest friends. Whilst the comfort of other children is important for those grieving most, staff should also note that it may not be 'healthy' for an individual friend to remain in this place for a long time or to have a constant gathering of close friends. It should be 'promoted' as a place for a short visit. Any child who is grieving and unable to function at some 'normal' level at school may need to go home or be supported elsewhere.

In addition, it may be appropriate to have somewhere for children/students and staff to gather maybe at break or part of lunch to sit together. A book of condolence can give children/students a

purpose in such a place. This place should be relatively accessible by all as many children/students who are not directly affected may wish to pay their respects. Important to staff this place so that there is a flow of children/students and the environment remains appropriately respectful. Ensure it is communicated to all when this place will no longer be available.

**Media** – In most cases the media would not be a relevant factor, but in any high profile incident the media will take an interest. Many schools have found this quite a difficult process to manage whilst attempting to support the closer school community. Leaders should ensure they liaise with the Executive Principal for direction if this is a possible consequence of the child's death. There are some aspects that are useful to have prepared:

- Prepare a very basic script with minimum details to be given out to relevant media outlets when appropriate to do so.
- Have a script for school administrative staff who may receive a call from the media. The response should simply direct the caller to the public statement made by the school and if not yet made, simply state that a statement will be released shortly. No more.
- By all means take name and details of caller and pass on to Headteacher to respond in consultation
  with the Executive Principal if deemed relevant. The less is said the better, especially at initial
  stages.
- Ensure staff are on duty in numbers before and after school to discourage media from possibly congregating around the school perimeter. If need be involving the local police may help.

**School Timetable** – The death of a child may result in the need for some reorganisation of the school day. It is best at all times to keep the school day as 'normal' as possible and to give all children/students a set routine for their day and to change as little as possible. However, some adjustments for some children/students may be appropriate.

The funeral – this to an extent will be dependent on the wishes of the family whether there is school involvement or not and may partly in some way be determined by a particular faith or culture. If the school community is to be present, school leaders will have to decide how that occurs. It can range from school being closed for the day or part of the day, or the school being represented by a small number of staff and children/students.

If the school is to be closed, prior to the day, leaders should communicate to all children/students that only children/students 'connected' with the family should attend due to capacity etc. This is out of respect and sensitivity for the family. This may be a sensitive issue for some but it would be insensitive for groups of children to attend 'just to observe'.

School should liaise with the family as best they can in regards to any donations, flowers etc. It may be the family simply wish for a donation to be made to a chosen charity.

For a funeral service where some staff and children/students are attending, leaders will have to be sensitive around which staff may be able to attend. There should be a school leader present, if the Headteacher is not able to, and relevant school staff. Colleagues in school may be asked to cover for those attending the service.

# Remembering

Ongoing support is important for the whole community and part of this is how the child may be remembered. It is a sensitive matter for all concerned as there will be those who will have very definite opinions about how this should be done and what they deem to be appropriate which may be well-intentioned but are deemed inappropriate. Therefore, it is important to take opinion from others, not only from senior leaders and staff, but also friends and family of the child so that a respectful and

appropriate memorial is decided on. It may be that a permanent memorial is decided, for example, a tree, bench on school grounds, piece of artwork etc. Or it may simply be a service in school is what is considered. A more permanent solution may be appropriate, but in future the removal, relocation or replacement will need to be managed sensitively. The school should then carefully decide what occurs on an anniversary. Whilst it may be important to mark the first anniversary of a death, school needs to be conscious about how long this may go on for and what is appropriate year after year.

### Section 4 – The death of a member of staff

The principles and procedures outlined above in the section on the death of a child are useful again to apply, some more than others in regards to communication to staff, communication to children/students and the wider community. Again the nature of the death may dictate the procedures which are needed.

The support of other staff, some of whom may have been very close to the member of staff who has died, needs to be a great priority and the support of other staff at this time for each other is vital.

As mentioned, principles are similar in terms of liaison with the family, offering support to the family, discussing funeral arrangements and deciding on how the school may remember their colleague.

On a more practical nature, leaders at a time of upset and sadness need to ensure the work of their colleague is covered and that children/students continue to be supported to the high standards set with in the school.

# Annex A: Template letters to parents/carers after a death in the school community

a) Letter to family following the death of their child.

Dear

We are so very sorry to hear the sad news of <name's> death. Our Trustees, Governors, Senior leaders and staff and children/students of the school, wish to offer our condolences to you and your family at this sad time.

There are no words to express our deep sadness and we can only begin to imagine the anguish you must be going through. As a school community, we are doing our best to offer comfort and support to <his/her> friends, classmates and staff. <Name> was a <valued / loved / popular / well-regarded / friendly> member of our school family and <he/she> will be sorely missed.

We would greatly appreciate being informed of any funeral arrangements for <name> and if you need any assistance as you plan, please don't hesitate to ask us.

If there is anything we can do for you at this time, then please let us know.

We will continue to keep in touch and will support you in any way we can.

With sympathy

Headteacher

# b) Letter to parents/carers following the death of a pupil.

Dear Parents/Carer,

We have had the sad task of informing our school community of the death of <name>, a child/student in <Year X>.

<Name> died suddenly / in hospital / after an illness / in a car accident / last week / during half term etc.>

<**He/she>** was a **<valued / loved / popular / well-regarded / friendly>** member of our school community and will be sorely missed by all who knew **<him/her>**.

Dealing with the death of a peer and friend can be difficult for young people and we will be of course supporting all of our people at school especially those closest to <name>. Some pupils may feel shock, others sadness, while others may be confused, angry or feel 'numb'. These reactions are all normal and our staff are here to support all.

We have tried to answer all questions at school but it may be your child has more when they are at home. If you need support in helping your child please do not hesitate to get in touch and/or by all means use one of the many online resources available, e.g. <a href="Childhood Bereavement Network">Childhood Bereavement Network</a>.

Our thoughts are with <name's> family and friends at this time. We will be in touch with details of how our school will celebrate/remember <name's> life.

Yours sincerely,

Headteacher

### c) Letter to parents/carers following the death of a member of staff.

Dear Parent/Carer,

I am writing with some sad news that you may have already heard from your son/daughter. A member of our school staff, <name>, died <suddenly at home / in hospital / after illness / car accident etc.>. This has been sad news for our staff at losing a dear friend and work colleague. We have been in contact with <his/her> family to pass on our condolences on behalf of our community.

<Name> has worked at <school name> since <year> in the role of <English teacher / school office etc.>. <Name> was a <valued member of staff / thoughtful / dedicated / supportive etc.> member of staff who will be sorely missed by all at school.

When someone dies, young people can react in a number of ways. Some children/students may feel shock, others sadness, while others may be confused, angry or feel 'numb'. These reactions are all normal and our staff are here to support all.

We have tried to answer all questions at school but it may be your child has more when they are at home. If you need support in helping your child please do not hesitate to get in touch and/or by all means use one of the many online resources available, e.g. <a href="Childhood Bereavement Network">Childhood Bereavement Network</a>.

Our thoughts are with <name's> family and friends at this time. We will be in touch with details of how our school will celebrate/remember <name's> life.

Yours sincerely,

Headteacher

# Annex B: Addendum to Bereavement Policy: Covid-19 Pandemic

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought extraordinary times to our lives and its impact will be felt for a long time. Support and <u>guidance</u> for all aspects of our lives from financial to educational and beyond is well documented and available.

A very sad consequence of this virus which has become evident to us all is that many will lose loved ones and children may experience death in their family and parents and schools may experience the death of a child.

However, the unique nature of this situation means that it may well be the case that a loved one dies in a hospital away from family and possibly even funerals occur that cannot be attended by all or most of the family affected. Likewise, in the event of the death of a child/student the school community at the time may be unable to grieve properly.

All children will have questions about the effects of the virus but for children who have had someone important die or have a member of their family who is ill, this anxiety is likely to be heightened. Children may also pick up on the anxiety of adults around them, may see coverage on news and social media, and of course be aware of changed procedures at school. In addition, children will be worried for elderly relatives such as grandparents who are vulnerable and cannot be visited by the child.

A child who has lost an elderly relative, a parent or even a sibling during the pandemic will need a great deal of support.

Much of the guidance in this policy can be 'adapted' for these eventualities but conversations and procedures may need to be done remotely. To that end, it was deemed appropriate to have an addendum to this policy.

In contacting the family, the member of school staff can ensure they;

- acknowledge what has happened
- express support
- discuss how to share the news with the rest of the school community (if it is the death of a child/student or member of staff)
- · check if family want their contact information shared
- if it's a death in the family, ask about the child/student specifically and how they are doing, maybe gaining the opportunity to speak with them
- Arrange future contact and which staff will make the contact

In the event of a death in the family, with the agreement of parents/carers, it may be beneficial to set up a regular call time between schools and home so that the child can speak to a member of school staff to support the work of their family. This helps keep a routine for the child. It may even include discussing some schoolwork or task that maintains some sense of normality for them.

In addition, in the event of the death of a child/student or member of staff, the following actions are worth taking:

- Contact the Executive Principal who will inform the Trustees and Governors.
- Decide what other children/staff/staff need to be contacted who may be close friends of the child/member of staff and offer support as best possible including regular contact.
- Consider how maybe an electronic book of condolences may occur, obviously following family wishes, and centrally controlled by school.
- Letter of condolence to be sent out to the family again emphasising the offer of support made during the telephone conversation.
- Prepare a statement and method of sharing the news with the rest of the school community.
- Keep in touch with staff and children/students, especially those who may be affected most by the death.

Support from school staff can be vital at this time for some children and staff, even if not in school. Hearing a familiar voice from school could be important to them.

Some helpful advice which may be appropriate to share with staff and parents when talking to a child during this time:

**Acknowledge their worries** - It's good to talk to them honestly but calmly about what is happening, and to not ignore or shield them from what is going on in the world. Children and young people who have been bereaved or are facing the death of someone important will appreciate people acknowledging their particular concerns.

**Reassure** - It is natural that children and young people who have experienced the death of someone important may worry that something will happen to someone else in their family. It may be helpful to remind your child that some people only experience mild symptoms and reassure them that more people are recovering from the virus than dying from it.

**Talk to them about coronavirus** - Don't be afraid to have conversations with your child about coronavirus – not talking about something can sometimes make children worry more. Other children will be talking about it at school and they may have heard it on the news or social media.

**Share memories** – It's important to continue to talk about someone who may have died, maybe share memories.

**Get support** – there are many support networks out there who can help. <u>Child Bereavement UK</u>, <u>Winston's Wish</u>, <u>Bereavement Advice</u> and <u>Child Bereavement Network</u>,

**Alternative goodbyes** – if a child cannot attend a funeral, there are other ways in isolation that a family could do this. Lighting a candle, releasing a balloon from the garden, or simply saying some prayers or having a reflective moment together can help. Creating a special place where they are can help, maybe the corner of the garden for example.

### Annex C: Books on Bereavement

#### **GRANPA**

John Burningham (Puffin, 1998, ISBN 0099-43408-3)

Designed to stimulate discussion rather than to tell a story, the book has a series of scenes of a little girl and her grandad, with comments from each or both of them. At the end, she is shown staring at his empty chair, without comments. The book allows the adult to direct discussion about not only the good things that the child remembers, but also the not so happy memories.

### GRANDAD, I'LL ALWAYS REMEMBER YOU

De Bode and Broere (Evans / Helping Hands, 1997, ISBN 0237-51755-8)

A picture book about loss and memories, and potentially a good stimulus to talk about a bereavement.

# WHEN DINOSAURS DIE

L & M Brown (Little, Brown, 1996, hb, ISBN 0-316-10197-7)

Charming busy anthropomorphic pictures of dinosaurs illustrate topics and questions and a range of answers about death: Saying Goodbye; Customs and beliefs about death; Why do people die? What does "dead" mean? It is also quite acute psychologically, acknowledging that disbelief, anger, fear, and sadness are common feelings when someone dies. Expensive, but attractive and appealing to children.

## **REMEMBERING GRANDAD**

Sheila and Kate Isherwood (Oxford, ISBN 0-19-272368-5)

A girl's grandfather has died and looking back over the happy times they enjoyed together helps her to cope with the loss. Very specific episodes and illustrations give it a life-like feel. Sensible and sound if a little stereotyped in its pictures of family life, it could help children to think about how to remember someone.

### **LIPLAP'S WISH**

Jonathan London and Sylvia Long (Chronicle Books, 1994, ISBN 0-8118-0505-0)

Liplap the rabbit's grandma has died, and his mother tells him of the rabbit legend that "long ago, when the first rabbits died, they became stars in the sky. And to this day, they come out at night and watch over us. And they remind us that our loved ones shine forever in our hearts... When Liplap asks if a star might be his grandma, his mother replies, "I think you could wish it were." Could be considered "twee" and lacking honest engagement with the subject,

### **FRED**

Posy Simmons (Jonathan Cape, 1987, ISBN 0-2240-2448-5)

When Fred the cat dies his owners, Nick and Sophie, attend his funeral and learn about his secret life as a famous singer. The story raises the idea of celebrating a life in a good-humored and touching way, with entertaining pictures and not much text.

#### **LIFETIMES**

Bryan Mellonie and Robert Ingpen (Belitha Press, 1997, ISBN 1-85561-760-9)

full title: Beginnings and endings with lifetimes in between – a beautiful way to explain life and death to children. This book places human life and death firmly in the natural world, and the tone is quietly reflective: "All around us everywhere, beginnings and endings are going on all the time. It may be sad, but it is the way of all things. For plants. For people. For birds". Whilst not exactly comforting, it tells the truth, puts death in perspective, don't let the rather murky cover put children off - it belies the attractive illustrations within of plants and creatures, alive and dead.

#### **BADGER'S PARTING GIFTS**

Susan Varley (Collins Picture Lions, pb, 1992)

An old favourite, a charming illustrated book in which a very old and much-loved badger dies. The forest animals gather and reminisce about the important part Badger played in their lives, and as time passes memories of Badger make them smile. These memories were different for each of them, including very recognisable things like a favourite recipe or showing someone how to knot a tie - Badger's "parting gifts.

### **WE LOVE THEM**

Martin Waddell (Walker Books, 1990, ISBN 0-7445-7256-8)

Death is seen very much as part of life in this nicely illustrated story of life in the country, which conveys the idea that life goes on and that old creature's give way to young ones. But it is a bit too matter of fact about loss - barely is the old dog dead than the children have found a new one, is there an implicit message that dead pets (and people?) are easily replaced.

#### **GRANDMA'S BILL**

Martin Waddell (Macdonald Young Books, pb, ISBN 0-7500-0307-3)

Bill's grandma is a widow, and he learns about her "other Bill" by looking through her photo album with her. A bit too stereotypically suburban and middle class for general appeal perhaps. Some like its ordinariness, gentleness and factual accuracy, and couldn't fault what it had to say about death and living on in memories and in the family.

### I'LL ALWAYS LOVE YOU

H Wilhelm (Hodder & Stoughton, 1985)

A touching story of the love between a little boy and his dog, who have grown up together. When the dog dies, the boy says that, although he is very sad, it helps that he used to tell the dog "I'll always love you" every night. An opportunity to discuss the importance of telling how you feel. Aimed at 4 to 7 year olds and delightfully illustrated.

### I FEEL SAD

(Wayland, ISBN 0-7052-1406-6)

Not specifically about death, but about different ways of expressing sadness. Could be a useful opening for a conversation about a bereavement, or about coping with feelings.

### A BIRTHDAY PRESENT FOR DANIEL

Juliet Rothman (Prometheus Books, ISBN 1-57392-054-1)

This story of a little girl whose brother has died is intended for children aged 8-12. "A difficult subject handled very well and movingly",

Date of review: New Policy

Ratified date: 6 May 2020

Date of next review: June 2022

Author: Rhodri Bryant